
 

 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 

 

Date: Friday 18th December, 2020 
Time: 2.30 pm 

Venue: Virtual Meeting 

 
AGENDA 

 

Please note: this is a virtual meeting. 
 
The meeting will be live-streamed via the Council’s Youtube 
channel at 2.30 pm on Friday 18th December, 2020 

 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 
 
 

  

3.   Call-in - Residual Waste Collections 
 
 

 3 - 46 

4.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may 
be considered. 
 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Date Not Specified 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors J Thompson (Chair), M Storey (Vice-Chair), C Cooke, D Coupe, L Garvey, 
A Hellaoui, T Higgins, T Mawston, C McIntyre, J McTigue, J Platt, M Saunders and Z Uddin 
 
Assistance in accessing information 

Page 1

https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesboroughcouncil
https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesboroughcouncil


 

 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Chris Lunn, 01642 729742, chris_lunn@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 2



1 
 

 
 

 
MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 

 
AGENDA ITEM 3 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 

 
18 DECEMBER 2020 

 
CALL-IN – RESIDUAL WASTE COLLECTIONS 

 
 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1. In accordance with Middlesbrough Council’s Call-in Procedure, to allow 

Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board the opportunity to consider a 
decision made by the Executive. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
2. That the Overview and Scrutiny Board considers the decision of the Executive 

and determines whether it should be referred back to the decision making body 
for reconsideration. 

 
EXECUTIVE DECISION   
 
3. A meeting of the Executive was held on 24 November 2020.  At that meeting, 

consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Environment 
and the Director of Environment and Community Services in respect of 
Residual Waste Collections. 
 

4. A copy of the above report, which outlined the background to Residual Waste 
Collections, is attached at Appendix 1a, with an accompanying Impact 
Assessment attached at Appendix 1b.  A copy of the minutes of the Executive 
meeting is attached at Appendix 2. 
 

5. The report included the following recommendations:- 
 

That Executive approve the proposal to move to Alternate Weekly (Fortnightly) 
Residual waste collections. This follows the Waste public consultation 
questionnaire, which was completed on 31 October 2020. 

 
The decision was supported by the following analysis:  
 
The proposed changes would support the Council’s Green Strategy and therefore 
aid achieving a Carbon Neutral status by 2029.  It will improve the Council’s current 
recycling rate toward the Government target of 50% by 2020.  It will also embed 
the vision of the Council to be the lead authority on all Environmental issues.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

Additionally, it will assist in delivering a saving of £322K and Capital savings of 
£180k in line with the change Programme 3:1 (2021/22). 
 

CALL-IN PROCEDURE 
 
6. The power to call-in a decision of a Local Authority Executive Body was 

introduced under the Local Government Act 2000.  The process is intended to 
hold decision makers to account and ensure that Executive powers are 
discharged properly.  Call-in ensures that a decision can be reviewed and 
reconsidered before it is implemented.  

7. The procedure allows Members the opportunity to call-in decisions for review  
by the Overview and Scrutiny Board as follows:  
 
 A decision made by the Executive; 
 A decision made by an individual Member of the Executive; 
 A decision made by a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Executive;  
 A key decision made by an officer with delegated authority from the 

Executive; or 
 A decision made under joint arrangements. 
 

8. The process is initiated by five Members of the Council requesting a decision 
to be reviewed within five working days following publication of the decision and 
submitting a form that outlines the reason(s) for the call-in. 
 

9. There were two completed call-in forms, each signed by five Members 
supporting the request to call-in the decision outlined above, received by the 
Monitoring Officer.   
 
Call-in Form One 
 

10. The first completed call-in form was received and validated by the Monitoring 
Officer.  The five Members supporting the call-in were Councillors M Storey 
(Proposer), Cooke, P Storey, J Walker and Wright. 
 

11. The decision to be called-in is as follows: 
 

That Executive approve the proposal to move to Alternate Weekly (Fortnightly) 
Residual waste collections. This follows the Waste public consultation 
questionnaire, which was completed on 31 October 2020. 

 
12. The reasons for the call-in, as determined as being valid by the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer, are as follows: 
 
There has been inadequate consultation with stakeholders prior to the 
decision being made; and  
 
There was inadequate/inaccurate evidence on which to base a decision and 
that not all matters were fully taken into account 
 

 “We are requesting that this decision be referred back to the Executive 
for their reconsideration as the Executive report is both inaccurate and 

Page 4



3 
 

inadequate in terms of the evidence presented and the desired 
outcomes of the policy. 

 We also contend that the Executive Report highlights consultation which 
was inadequate and that the decision as stated is in direct contradiction 
of said consultation. 

 The report states that in paragraph 8, and again in paragraph 20, that 
“Through this proposal, we would be looking to improve our recycling 
performance closer to the UK Government target of 50% by 2020”. The 
report also states that fortnightly bin collection will start in April 2021. 
This is inaccurate as the government’s stated target date will have 
elapsed by the time this policy is introduced in Middlesbrough. The 
Council cannot meet a government target that is out of date. 

 Paragraph 29 of the report states that there will be job losses-  “A Service 
review will be undertaken to re-address the balances of required 
resources, which will lead to the loss of x12 FTE’s”- and paragraph 23 
states that staff costs will equate to the vast majority of the revenue 
savings, some £282,000, yet in public statements on his Facebook page 
the Mayor Andy Preston has made it clear there will be no job losses. It 
is not clear which is correct and further evidence of inaccuracy. 

 The report provides inadequate information about alternative options. 
The only alternative option which is referenced is “To change the 
Residual waste collection frequency to Alternate Weekly (Fortnightly) 
with the current in use 140 ltr wheelie bins.” The exact same policy but 
continuing to use the existing, smaller bins. The implication being that 
fortnightly bin collection was inevitable which, amongst other 
consequences, rendered any consultation irrelevant. More alternatives 
should have been explored and options explained with reasoning for 
their rejection. Particularly for such a critical issue as this. 

 This leads to the other key point- the inadequacy of the consultation. The 
report states that, save for the size of bins, fortnightly bin collection was 
the only option available. Yet a consultation exercise was carried out 
with over 70% of the respondents opposing fortnightly bin collection. The 
consultation exercise was totally disregarded and should be given due 
consideration by the Executive. 

 A limited number of mitigations were suggested for the issues raised 
during the consultation. With residents concerns around vermin and the 
size of refuse bins not given due consideration. Other options should 
have been explored, and in greater detail, than four or five one-sentence 
bullet points. 

 In summary-  
 

 The stated targets for recycling are out of date and therefore 
inaccurate as well as achieving only a fraction of the out of date 
target that is quoted.  

 The report states that there will be job losses and that staffing 
costs will be reduced yet this is contradicted by public statements 
from the Mayor. Which is accurate? 

 There is inadequate information around alternative options with 
only one suggested and that alternative is only marginally distinct 
from the option that has been agreed. 

Page 5



4 
 

 The consultation has been given no weight in the decision-
making. The views of resident’s were sought and ignored with the 
vast majority opposed to this proposal showing the inadequacy of 
the process. 

 The options around mitigations for residents are insufficient and 
should be provided in more detail with further measures 
explored.” 
 

Call-in Form Two 
 

13. The second completed call-in form was received and validated by the 
Monitoring Officer.  The five Members supporting the call-in were Councillors 
Saunders (Proposer), Hill, Hubbard, Polano and Wilson.  
 

14. The decision to be called-in is as follows: 
 

That Executive approve the proposal to move to Alternate Weekly (Fortnightly) 
Residual waste collections. This follows the Waste public consultation 
questionnaire, which was completed on 31 October 2020. 
 

15. The reasons for the call-in, as determined as being valid by the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer, are as follows: 

 
“Inadequate evidence provided to decision makers 

 
 No information was provided to decision makers regarding the 

assumptions underpinning in the statement that the “percentage of 
waste recycled will increase from 33.49% to 50%” or why the report goes 
on to state that the recycling rate will only increase by 3%. 

 No modelling has been provided to show what might affect recycling 
rates or how the provision of larger and additional bins may impact upon 
recycling rates and the proposed savings. 

 No financial modelling provided to demonstrate the costs associated 
with: reinstating the green waste collection, providing larger / additional 
bins, additional vermin control or the additional costs of assisted bin 
service (especially given the high rates of long-term ill health in 
Middlesbrough). 

 No analysis of the potential for increased fly tipping and its impact on 
residents’ well-being and additional costs to the Council. 

 No information provided regarding public health issues associated with 
fortnightly bin collections. 

 No proof provided that this will move the Council to a carbon neutral 
status as stated in paragraph 20. 

 No evidence provided that the proposed savings are achievable and / or 
realistic. 

 No information provided on whether the 50% government target is the 
right target for Middlesbrough.  Members need to be provided with the 
analysis of the carbon footprint for Middlesbrough using recycling via the 
energy from waste plant compared to increase in kerbside recycling.  If 
waste is shipped across the globe to 3rd world countries to be recycled 
this will leave an increased carbon footprint and also moves dirty and 

Page 6



5 
 

sometimes dangerous work to an unregulated and unsafe environment 
putting lives at risk.  Information on how the waste will be recycled is 
needed. 
 
 

Disproportionate to the desired outcome 
 

 The vast majority (71%) of residents that responded to the consultation 
said they were against the proposal.  The report states that these 
proposals will result in a 3% increase in recycling rates.  There is no 
discussion regarding if the same environmental outcome could be 
achieved by a different method.  The method proposed is 
disproportionate the aim a more proportionate approach, in line with 
public expectations and without the need to make 12 staff redundant, is 
needed. 

 The expected savings appear to be unrealistic given that Cllr McCabe 
stated at a full Council meeting that this proposal was to be discussed 
with Trade Unions in April.” 

 
16. To assist the Overview and Scrutiny Board in the call-in process, the Mayor, 

Executive Member for Environment and appropriate Council officers, will be 
present at the meeting.  The Executive Members and officers will explain the 
reasons and rationale behind the report and the decision that was made.  The 
two Members who initiated the call-in (Councillors M Storey and Saunders) will 
also be present to explain their views and concerns in respect of the decision.  
Each case will be presented in-turn, before the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
determines the appropriate course of action.     
 

17. A copy of the procedure to be followed at the meeting is attached at Appendix 
3. 

 
18. Having considered the submitted information, the Overview and Scrutiny Board 

has the following courses of action available: 
 
i. To refer the decision back to the Executive for reconsideration.  In that 

case, the Overview and Scrutiny Board should set out in writing the 
nature of its concerns about the decisions. 

ii. To determine that it is satisfied with the decision making process that 
was followed and the decision that was taken by the Executive.  In that 
event, no further action would be necessary and the Executive decision 
could be implemented immediately. 

iii. Request that the decision be deferred (adjourned) until the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board has received and considered any additional 
information/evidence required to make a decision with regard to the call-
in from other witnesses not present at the Committee (the Committee 
needs to clearly identify the relevant issues that need to be given further 
consideration, and whether there are any specific time constraints or 
other implications affecting the proposed implementation of the 
decision). 

Page 7



6 
 

iv. Take no action in relation to the called-in decision, but consider whether 
issues arising from the call-in need to be added to the Work Programme 
of any existing or new Overview and Scrutiny Standing Panel/OSB (the 
Committee needs to clearly identify the issues to be added to the Work 
Programme). 

v. If, but only if (having taken the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or 
the Chief Finance Officer), the Committee determines that the decision 
is wholly or partly outside the Budget and Policy Framework, refer the 
matter, with any recommendations, to the Council after following the 
procedure in Rule 8 of the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules.  Only in this case is there a continuing bar on implementing the 
decision. 

19. In the event that the decision is referred back to the Executive, a further meeting 
of the Executive would be arranged within ten further working days.  The 
Executive would then make a final decision in light of any recommendations 
made by the Overview and Scrutiny Board. 

 
20. Where the recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Board are not 

accepted in full by the relevant Executive body, the body should notify the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board of this and give reasons for not accepting the 
recommendations. 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
21. The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 
 

- Middlesbrough Council’s Call-in Procedure; and 
- Report to Executive – 24 November 2020. 

 
 
Contact Officer:   
 
Chris Lunn 
Democratic Services Officer 
Democratic Services  
Tel: 01642 729742 (direct line) 
E-mail: chris_lunn@middlesbrough.gov.uk  
 
 
 

Page 8



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

Report of: Director of Environment and Community Services: Geoff Field 

Executive Member for Environment: Cllr Dennis McCabe 

 

Submitted to: Executive – 24 November 2020 

 

Subject: Residual Waste Collections 

 
Summary 

 

Report for: Key 
decision: 

Confidential: Is the report urgent?1 

Decision Yes, impacts 
two or more 
wards 

No No 

 

Contribution to delivery of the 2018-22 Strategic Plan 

People Place Business 

This proposal supports the 
empower agenda. 

Encouraging more our 
residents to manage their 
waste responsibly and 
improving recycling rates 
has a positive impact on the 
local environment & adds 
support to the councils 
Green strategy 

.This proposal would assist, 
in part, the 3:1 Change 
programme (ECS 18) 
savings of £740K, by 
delivering a saving of £322K 

 

Ward(s) affected 

The proposal impacts across all wards 

 
 
 
 

                                                           
1 Remove for non-Executive reports 

Proposed decision(s) 

That Executive approve the proposal to move to Alternate Weekly (Fortnightly) Residual 
waste collections. This follows the Waste public consultation questionnaire, which was 
completed on 31 October 2020. 

Page 9



2 

What is the purpose of this report? 
 

1. To update the executive on the results of the consultation around the introduction of 
fortnightly collection for residual waste.  
 

2. To seek executive approval for the movement to fortnightly collection of residual 
waste from April 2021. 

 
 
Why does this report require a Member decision? 

 
3. The proposal affects more than two wards and therefore is considered a key 

decision requiring approval by the Executive. 
 

 
Report Background 

 
4. The council has set out an ambitious vision through an environmental strategy to 

rise to the challenge of climate change and meet our obligations through the 
Government’s Environment Bill. In spring of 2021 the council will be asked to adopt 
a Green Strategy that will enable it to hit its strategic objectives that: 
 

 To ensure Middlesbrough Council is net carbon neutral by 2029. 
 To ensure Middlesbrough as a town is net carbon neutral by 2039. 
 For Middlesbrough to be a lead authority on environmental issues. 

 
5. How the council deals with its waste is a significant part of the council’s proposals 

around its green strategy.  
 

6. Currently in Middlesbrough, we are recycling 33.49% of the waste produced by 
households.  

 
7. Middlesbrough is one of the few Authorities that continues to collect residual waste 

on a weekly basis. Nationally, less than 13% of authorities collect their waste 
weekly. In respect of the North East, Middlesbrough is one of only two areas that 
still has weekly residual waste collections. 

8. Through this proposal, we would be looking to improve our recycling performance 
closer to the UK Government target of 50% by 2020. 

 
9. Below is the current recycling performance of all Local Authorities in the North East: 

 
 

Local Authority 
Percentage HH waste sent for 

Reuse, Recycling or Composting 
2018/19 

County Durham 42.28% 
Darlington Borough Council 39.81% 
Redcar and Cleveland Borough 
Council 

38.48% 

Newcastle-upon-Tyne City Council 
MBC 

37.87% 

Northumberland 35.93% 

Page 10



3 

North Tyneside Council 34.36% 
Middlesbrough Borough Council 33.49% 
Hartlepool Borough Council 32.50% 
Gateshead MBC 31.61% 
South Tyneside MBC 30.74% 
Sunderland City Council 27.14% 
Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 26.42% 

 
10. To enable Middlesbrough Council to achieve the targets stated above we need to 

change resident’s behaviours/attitudes towards residual waste and recycling and 
review the way in which they manage their waste streams and also how the council 
collects the recycling and residual waste. 

 
11. In September 2020 it was outlined to the executive that moving residual waste 

collection to fortnightly collections would have the following environmental benefits.  
 

i. This will aid improved recycling rates by 3%.  
ii. Reduce the amount of residual waste sent for final disposal.  
iii. There would be an annual reduction in CO2 emissions of 152,700kg 

and this is achieved through the reduction in vehicles being used and 
equates to a service 30% reduction in the annual CO2 emissions. 

iv. There would be an annual reduction of 57,000 litres of fuel 
consumption 

v. Assist in achieving the required Change programme revenue savings 
of £322K along-side capital savings.  

 
12. The Executive agreed that a consultation on the proposals for fortnightly collection 

of residual waste should go to public consultation. The consultation was a mix of an 
online consultation and paper copies being sent out to 2300 homes across 
Middlesbrough. 

 
 

13. Of the circa 57,000 affected properties, we received a total of 3309 responses (both 
online and paper responses combined) which equates to 5.8% of affected 
properties. In respect of the Paper Copies of the 2300 issued, 596 responses were 
received (26%). 

 

14. The key findings of the consultation questionnaire responses are shown below.  

Do you agree / disagree with the proposal to move to fortnightly collections:  

Strongly disagree  1,811    52.21% 

Disagree   639    18.42% 

Neutral   266    7.67% 

Agree    363    10.46% 

Strongly agree  230      6.63% 

 Those who responded negatively equates to 4.3% of all affected properties 

Page 11



4 

 

 

15. If you do not agree, why is this: 

 My household would generate too much waste for the bin in a two-week period. 
1,940 55.92% 

 (However of the residents who stated they were unhappy due to current bin 
capacity, 23% stated they would be happy if a larger 240 Ltr bin was provided). 

 I am concerned that leaving waste for two weeks would be smelly / attract vermin. 
2,241 64.6% 

 I would find the bin too difficult to move if it contained two weeks’ worth of rubbish. 
906 26.12% 

 Other 375 10.81% 

16.  The council believes that it can mitigate these concerns highlighted in the 
consultation outlined above.  

17. My residual waste bin is too small.  
 

a. It is acknowledged that households may struggle with the 140ltr residual 
waste bin therefore the proposal is for larger 240ltr bins to be available on 
request before fortnightly collection in introduced.  

b. Larger/ additional bins above 240 ltrs for those who need them (medical 
needs etc) 

c. Move back to fortnightly green waste for 2021 to reduce the possible need 
for green waste to go into residual waste bins. 

d. Educate people about what can be recycled to ensure less is placed in 
residual waste bin. 

e. Households can have additional recycling bins if required. Additional blue-
lidded recycling bins and clear sacks will be available free of charge if 
residents / households have excess recycling and recycle correctly. 

 
Fortnightly collection will cause smells and vermin problems. 
 

a. If waste is containerised these problems are significantly reduced. Larger bins 
are available.  

b. A number of additional staff have been trained in rodent control to respond to 
any issues on Council / public land. 

c. As part of the communications campaign residents will be advised to double 
bag any food waste. 

d. We would provide advice & recipes on how to use food left overs to reduce the 
amount of food waste. 

 
Too heavy to move 
 

a. If residents struggle moving the bins the Council does offer an assisted 
collection service where the crew will move the bin from an agreed point, empty 
and return the bin.  

Page 12



5 

 
18. Should the executive agree to the move to fortnightly collection then a significant 

communication exercise would be carried out as we move towards the role out. This 
would include.  

 Vehicle side advertising  
 Recycling Roadshows (maximising recycling opportunities) 
 Good practices – double bagging, squashing recycling etc.. 
 Social Media Updates – including short video 
 Website updates 
 Press Release / Editorial 
 Love Middlesbrough Adverts / Editorial 
 Bin Tag / Hangars  
 Leaflets 
 Staff Intranet Updates 
 Staff Facebook  
 Members Briefing 

 
 
What decision(s) are being asked for?  

 
19. That Executive approve the proposal to move to Alternate Weekly (Fortnightly) 

Residual waste Collections from April 2021. This follows the Waste public 
consultation questionnaire, which was completed on 31 October 2020. 

 
 
Why is this being recommended? 

 
20. The proposed changes would support the councils Green Strategy and therefore 

aid achieving a Carbon Neutral status by 2029. It will improve the council’s current 
recycling rate toward the Government target of 50% by 2020. It will also embed the 
vision of the Council to be the lead authority on all Environmental issues. 
Additionally, it will assist in delivering a saving of £322K and Capital savings of 
£180k in line with the change Programme 3:1 (2021/22) 

 
 

Other potential decisions and why these have not been recommended 
 

21. To change the Residual waste collection frequency to Alternate Weekly (Fortnightly) 
with the current in use 140 ltr wheelie bins. This is not being recommended as the 
Waste public consultation questionnaire (October 2020) shows a large percentage 
of the participants expressed anxiety with this option. 

 
Impact(s) of recommended decision(s) 

 
Legal 

 
22. There are no legal implications. 

 
 
 

Page 13



6 

 
Financial 

 
23. The below table demonstrates the financial savings, should the proposal be 

accepted. The savings will be achieved by a reduction in required resources to 
deliver the service. 

 
 
 

Revenue Savings £ 

Staff (282,000.00) 

Vehicles (fuel) (40,000.00) 

Total Net Revenue Saving  (322,000) 
  

 
There will be a requirement to procure additional bins against the Capital 
Programme at a cost of £860,000. However, this is expected to be more than offset 
by savings achieved over a number of years as a result of a reduction in the 
number of refuse vehicles purchased. 

         
 

Policy Framework 
 

24. The report sets out a proposal in accordance with the Council’s approach to the 
delivery of efficient services. 

 
 

Equality and Diversity 
 

25. An Impact Assessment has been carried out and there are no areas of concern as 
assisted collections for residents will continue. Provision of larger/ additional  bins 
for those with medical and other needs has been considered 

 
 

Risk 
 

26. Current collection frequencies and tonnages are not sustainable and retract from 
the councils Green Strategy, The Environment Bill and Government Recycling 
Targets. The service must adopt an efficient and therefore more environmentally 
friendly position. We must improve our recycling rates and change resident’s 
behaviours towards refuse and recycling and review the way we collect recycling 
and refuse. 

27. The current identified Change Programme 3.1 service savings of £322,000 will not 
be achieved if this decision is not approved. 

28. There are two factors may lead to the implementation of the this proposal being 
either delayed and/or being rolled out on a ward by ward basis over a number of 
months:  

i. Government restrictions/guidance relating to Covid 19, affecting free 
movement of council resources ie: Staff/resources 

Page 14



7 

ii. Brexit may have an impact on our European suppliers of Wheelie 
Bins, thus leading to delays with importation.  

 
 
Actions to be taken to implement the decision(s) 

 
29. A Service review will be undertaken to re-address the balances of required 

resources, which will lead to the loss of x12 FTE’s. As part of the review a 
route/round optimisation exercise will be undertaken to realign/balance the working 
collection rounds  

 
30. A detailed Communication, Marketing & Education campaign will be undertaken 

following Executive approval of this proposal as detailed above.  
 
 

Appendices 
 

31. Equality Impact Assessments. 
 

Background papers  
 
32. Local Partnerships Waste and recycling collection service options modelling, July 

2018. 
 
 
Contact: Andrew Mace 
Email: Andrew_Mace @ Middlesbrough.gov.uk . 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Impact Assessment Level 1: Initial screening assessment           
 

Subject of assessment: ECS 18(A) Proposal to move to fortnightly general waste collections. 

Coverage: Service Specific 

This is a decision relating to: 

 Strategy  Policy  Service  Function 

 Process/procedure  Programme  Project  Review 

 Organisational change  Other (please state) 

It is a: New approach:  Revision of an existing approach:  

It is driven by: Legislation:   Local or corporate requirements:  

Description: 

Insert short description, using the following as sub-headings: 
 Key aims, objectives and activities 

To change the residential refuse collections from the current weekly cycle to that of fortnightly. This will lead to a reduced service cost base 
and subsequently contribute a financial saving to MBC of £322K. The financial saving is a key component in achieving the ECS 18 overall 
saving target by 2022. 
To increase Middlesbrough’s recycling rates 
To support the Councils Emerging Green Strategy. 

 Statutory drivers (set out exact reference) 
Refuse collections are a statutory requirement, though Local authorities determine the frequency of the collections. 

 Differences from any previous approach 
Middlesbrough is one of the few Authorities that continues to collect residual waste on a weekly basis. The Current Local Authority 
nationwide make up of refuse collections is shown below, indicating that Middlesbrough sits within the minority of 13%: 
Every 4 weeks – 2% 
Every 3 weeks – 6% 
Every 2 weeks – 79% 
Every week – 13%.  
Please note that this change will not apply to any residents who currently utilise a communal waste receptacle, as these will remain on the 
weekly collection cycle. 

 Key stakeholders and intended beneficiaries (internal and external as appropriate) 
The key stakeholders are Environmental Services, Residents & Members. The service will be reviewed only following a process of 
member/public consultation. 

 Intended outcomes. 
To reduce the cost of service delivery in order that a financial contribution is made toward Change Programme. Additionally, it is expected 
that residents will adopt improved recycling activities, leading to improved recycling rates. Middlesbrough Council’s current recycling rate is 
33.49% placing ourselves in 279th position out of 345 Councils. Middlesbrough council will roll out a series of Educational Literature, Social 
Media awareness campaigns & Recycling Roadshows all aimed towards greater resident participation to improve our current recycling 
status. In turn this is expected to contribute towards the Government target of 50% recycling rates by 2020 

P
age 17



 

Live date: 1st April 2021 

Lifespan: From 1st April 2021 onwards 

Date of next review: N/A 

P
age 18



 

Screening questions 
Response 

Evidence 
No Yes Uncertain 

Human Rights 
Could the decision impact negatively 
on individual Human Rights as 
enshrined in UK legislation?*  

   
There are no concerns that the proposals could impact adversely on human rights. Evidence used to inform this assessment includes analysis of 
staff demographics, engagement to date with staff and analysis of current service provision. 

Equality 
Could the decision result in adverse 
differential impacts on groups or 
individuals with characteristics 
protected in UK equality law? Could 
the decision impact differently on 
other commonly disadvantaged 
groups?* 

   

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires that when exercising its functions the Councils must have due regard to the need to:- 
 
• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
• foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 
In having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity, the Council must consider, as part of a single equality duty: 
 
• removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 

characteristic; 
• taking steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of people who do 

not share it; and 
• encouraging people who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation is low. 
 
Service users – the proposal is potentially relevant to the age and or disability protected characteristics. If individuals holding those 
characteristics were less able to dispose of their waste, we would offer an assisted collection service where appropriate in line with existing 
policy. There would also be opportunity to dispose of bulk waste in way of logging a One Off Collection. There are no concerns that this could 
have disproportionate or adverse impact on these groups. 
 
All Refuse Service Staff are within the scope of the review.  If implemented the proposal would result in a reduction of 12 posts. Relevant HR 
policies will also be applied to support staff and mitigate adverse impacts from this review including the ER/VR scheme, the redeployment 
policy, Reviews, Consultation and Redundancy Policy.  The gender split of staff within the scope of the review is even and there are no concerns 
that the proposals could impact differently on individuals because of their gender. 
 
Staff within the scope of the review have disability protected characteristic on the Council’s HR system. However these staff have reasonable 
adjustments in place to manage long term health conditions.  There are no concerns that the review could impact differently on these 
individuals because they hold this protected characteristic.  Evidence used to inform this assessment includes analysis of staff demographics, 
engagement to date with staff and analysis of current service provision. 
 
Evidence used to inform this assessment includes analysis of the proposal, service provision and feedback from consultation. 

                                            
* Consult the Impact Assessment further guidance appendix for details on the issues covered by each of theses broad questions prior to completion. 

P
age 19



 

Screening questions Response Evidence 

Community cohesion 
Could the decision impact negatively 
on relationships between different 
groups, communities of interest or 
neighbourhoods within the town?* 

   Not applicable. There are no concerns that the proposal could have an impact on community cohesion. 

Next steps: 

 If the answer to all of the above screening questions is No then the process is completed. 

 If the answer of any of the questions is Yes or Uncertain, then a Level 2 Full Impact Assessment must be completed. 

 

Assessment completed by: Andy Mace Head of Service: Andrew Mace 

Date: 21 August 2020 Date: 21 August 2020 

 

P
age 20



 

 

Subject of assessment: ECS 18(A) Proposal to move to fortnightly general waste collections. 

Coverage: Service Specific 

This is a decision relating to: 

 Strategy  Policy  Service  Function 

 Process/procedure  Programme  Project  Review 

 Organisational change  Other (please state) 

It is a: New approach:  Revision of an existing approach:  

It is driven by: Legislation:   Local or corporate requirements:  

P
age 21



 

Description: 

Insert short description, using the following as sub-headings: 
 Key aims, objectives and activities 

To change the residential refuse collections from the current weekly cycle to that of fortnightly. This will lead to a reduced service cost base 
and subsequently contribute a financial saving to MBC of £322K. The financial saving is a key component in achieving the ECS 18 overall 
saving target by 2022. 
To increase Middlesbrough’s recycling rates 
To support the Councils Emerging Green Strategy. 

 Statutory drivers (set out exact reference) 
Refuse collections are a statutory requirement, though Local authorities determine the frequency of the collections. 

 Differences from any previous approach 
Middlesbrough is one of the few Authorities that continues to collect residual waste on a weekly basis. The Current Local Authority 
nationwide make up of refuse collections is shown below, indicating that Middlesbrough sits within the minority of 13%: 
Every 4 weeks – 2% 
Every 3 weeks – 6% 
Every 2 weeks – 79% 
Every week – 13%.  
Please note that this change will not apply to any residents who currently utilise a communal waste receptacle, as these will remain on the 
weekly collection cycle. 

 Key stakeholders and intended beneficiaries (internal and external as appropriate) 
The key stakeholders are Environmental Services, Residents & Members. The service will be reviewed only following a process of 
member/public consultation. 

 Intended outcomes. 
To reduce the cost of service delivery in order that a financial contribution is made toward Change Programme. Additionally, it is expected 
that residents will adopt improved recycling activities, leading to improved recycling rates. Middlesbrough Council’s current recycling rate is 
33.49% placing ourselves in 279th position out of 345 Councils. Middlesbrough council will roll out a series of Educational Literature, Social 
Media awareness campaigns & Recycling Roadshows all aimed towards greater resident participation to improve our current recycling 
status. In turn this is expected to contribute towards the Government target of 50% recycling rates by 2020 

Live date: 1st April 2021 

Lifespan: From 1st April 2021 onwards 

Date of next review: N/A 

 

P
age 22



 

 

 

 

Assessment issue 

Impacts identified 

Rationale and supporting evidence 
None Positive 

Negative 
Uncertain 

Justified Mitigated 

Human Rights 

Engagement with Convention Rights 
(as set out in section 1, appendix 2 of 
the Impact Assessment Policy). 

     
No concerns were identified at stage one in relation to this element and no concerns have been 
raised in relation to human rights as a result of the consultation. 

Equality 

Age       

The Stage one impact assessment that was completed and submitted to Executive in September, 
seeking approval to consult on this proposal stated there were no concerns that the proposal 
could have a disproportionate adverse impact on any of the protected characteristics.  During the 
course of the consultation it became clear that there were some concerns from the public that the 
proposal would have an adverse impact on the elderly who might be less able to move a larger 
bins if they required one for a fortnightly collection.  There were also concerns that those with a 
larger family would be less able cope with a fortnightly collection unless they had access to larger 
bins. To acknowledge this concern, a stage 2 has now been completed to explore those 
concerns. 

 

In relation to the elderly, if they require a larger bin because of their circumstances and they feel 
they are unable to manage this larger bin, they can apply to have an assisted bin collection 
(subject to assessment) which will mitigate the perceived negative impact the change could have 
on them. Alternatively they could maintain their current bin size if they would prefer this.  There 
was also a concern that larger families would not be able to manage with the proposals. Again, 
they will have access to the larger/ additional bins which will ensure they have capacity to store 
waste.  The council will continue to offer even larger bins where there is a medical need to do so. 
All residents can also request additional recycling bins. 

 

In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and the feedback, the Council considered 
whether it could avoid this perceived disproportionate impact.  It is felt that it is not possible to 
continue to provide a weekly waste collection given spending pressures on the Council and the 
need to encourage greater recycling as analysis has shown that recyclable material is 
unnecessarily getting disposed of in general waste bins. In line with the PSED consideration was 
then given to whether the impact of the proposal could be mitigated to address the concerns.  
Given the adjustments that have been made to the proposal it is anticipated that the perceived 
negative impacts should be fully mitigated. 

 

Evidence to support this assessment includes analysis of the extensive consultation undertaken, 
analysis of recycling levels and analysis of fortnightly collections conducted elsewhere to inform 
the proposal. 

 

P
age 23



 

 

 

Assessment issue 

Impacts identified 

Rationale and supporting evidence 
None Positive 

Negative 
Uncertain 

Justified Mitigated 

Disability      

The Stage one impact assessment that was completed and submitted to Executive in September, 
seeking approval to consult on this proposal stated there were no concerns that the proposal 
could have a disproportionate adverse impact on any of the protected characteristics.  During the 
course of the consultation it became clear that there were some concerns from the public that the 
proposal would have an adverse impact on the disability protected characteristic, particularly 
those less able to manoeuvre a larger bin and those with a need to dispose of bulky medical 
waste.  To acknowledge this concern, a stage 2 has now been completed to explore those 
concerns. 

 

If someone requires a larger bin because of their circumstances and they feel they are unable to 
manage this larger bin, they can apply to have an assisted bin collection (subject to assessment) 
which will mitigate the perceived negative impact the change could have on them. Alternatively 
they could maintain their current bin size if they would prefer this.  The council will continue to 
offer even larger/ additional bins where there is a medical need to do so. All residents can also 
request additional recycling bins. 

 

In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and the feedback, the Council considered 
whether it could avoid this perceived disproportionate impact.  It is felt that it is not possible to 
continue to provide a weekly waste collection given spending pressures on the Council and the 
need to encourage greater recycling as analysis has shown that recyclable material is 
unnecessarily getting disposed of in general waste bins. In line with the PSED consideration was 
then given to whether the impact of the proposal could be mitigated to address the concerns.  
Given the adjustments that have been made to the proposal it is anticipated that the perceived 
negative impacts should be fully mitigated. 

 

Evidence to support this assessment includes analysis of the extensive consultation undertaken, 
analysis of recycling levels and analysis of fortnightly collections conducted elsewhere to inform 
the proposal. 

Gender reassignment       

No concerns were identified at stage one in relation to this element and no concerns were raised 
during the consultation on this proposal that require further consideration. 

 

Evidence to support this assessment includes analysis of the extensive consultation undertaken, 
analysis of recycling levels and analysis of fortnightly collections conducted elsewhere to inform 
the proposal. 

Pregnancy / maternity      

Sex      

Race      

Religion or belief      

Sexual Orientation      

P
age 24



 

 

 

Assessment issue 

Impacts identified 

Rationale and supporting evidence 
None Positive 

Negative 
Uncertain 

Justified Mitigated 

Marriage / civil partnership**      

Dependants / caring responsibilities**      

Criminal record / offending past**      

                                            
** Indicates this is not included within the single equality duty placed upon public authorities by the Equality Act.  See guidance for further details. 
 

P
age 25



 

Assessment issue 

Impacts identified 

Rationale and supporting evidence 
None Positive 

Negative 
Uncertain 

Justified Mitigated 

Community cohesion 

Individual communities / neighbourhoods      No concerns were identified at stage one in relation to these 
element and no concerns have been raised in relation to 
these as a result of the consultation. Relations between communities / neighbourhoods      

 
 

Further actions Lead Deadline 

Mitigating actions  

 Promotion of the changes along with the service adjustments that can be requested 
 

  Promotion  

Monitoring and evaluation  

 

Assessment completed by: Geoff Field Head of Service: n/a 

Date: 16 November 2020 Date:  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 26



Executive 24 November 2020 

1  

THE EXECUTIVE  
 
A meeting of the Executive was held on 24 November 2020 at 1:00 p.m. in Virtual Meeting. 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Mayor A Preston (Chair) and Councillors D Davison, A High, C Hobson, D 

McCabe, M L Smiles and A Waters 
 
INVITEES: Councillor J Thompson 
 
OFFICIALS: C Benjamin, S Bonner, R Brown, S Butcher, G Cooper, G Field, R Horniman, A Hoy, C Lunn, 

E Mireku, G Moore, T Parkinson, S Reynolds, E Scollay and I Wright 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 
 

There were no Declarations of Interest made by Members at this point in the meeting. 
 
 
 20/59 MINUTES - EXECUTIVE - 27 OCTOBER 2020 

 
The minutes of the Executive meeting, held on 27 October 2020, were submitted and 
approved as a correct record. 

 

 
 20/60 RESIDUAL WASTE COLLECTIONS 

 
SUSPENSION OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO 5 - ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  
ORDERED that, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule No 5, the committee agreed to 
vary the order of business. 
  
ORDERED that the items be considered as shown: 
  
The Executive Member for Environment and the Director of Environment and Community 
Services submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. The purpose of the report was 
to provide an update on the results of the consultation around the introduction of fortnightly 
collection for residual waste and to seek approval for the movement to fortnightly collection of 
residual waste from April 2021. 
  
Middlesbrough was currently one of the few local authorities that continued to collect residual 
waste on a weekly basis. Nationally, less than 13% of authorities collected their waste weekly. 
  
In September 2020, it had been outlined that moving residual waste collection to fortnightly 
collections would have the following environmental benefits: 
 

●  it would aid improved recycling rates by 3%; 
●  it would reduce the amount of residual waste sent for final disposal; 
●  there would be an annual reduction in CO2 emissions of 152,700kg and that would be 

achieved through the reduction in vehicles being used and equated to a service 30% 
reduction in the annual CO2 emissions; 

●  there would be an annual reduction of 57,000 litres of fuel consumption; 
●  it would assist in achieving the required change programme revenue savings of £322K 

alongside capital savings. 
 
The Executive had previously agreed that a consultation on the proposals for fortnightly 
collection of residual waste would be undertaken. 
  
Of the circa 57,000 affected properties, the Council had received a total of 3309 responses 
(both online and paper responses combined), which equated to 5.8% of affected properties. 
  
In respect of the proposal to move to fortnightly collections, 1,811 (52.21%) of participants 
strongly disagreed with the proposal, 639 (18.42%) disagreed, 266 (7.67%) were neutral, 363 
(10.46%) agreed and 230 (6.63%) strongly agreed. Those who had responded negatively to 

 

Page 27



Executive 24 November 2020 

2  

the proposal equated to 4.3% of all affected properties. 
  
Those who had responded negatively had provided the following reasons: 
 

●  My household would generate too much waste for the bin in a two-week period - 1,940 
(55.92%). However, of the residents who had stated that they were unhappy due to 
current bin capacity, 23% had stated they would be happy if a larger 240 litre bin was 
provided. 

●  I am concerned that leaving waste for two weeks would be smelly/attract vermin - 
2,241 (64.6%). 

●  I would find the bin too difficult to move if it contained two weeks’ worth of rubbish - 
906 (26.12%). 

●  Other - 375 (10.81%). 
 
Measures proposed to mitigate those concerns highlighted in the consultation were outlined at 
paragraph 17 of the submitted report. 
  
Should the move to fortnightly collection be agreed, a significant communication exercise 
would be carried out as the Council moved towards the roll out. 
  
A discussion ensued and concerns were raised in respect of how the Council would distribute 
larger bins and additional recycling bins and how missed collections, fly tipping and vermin 
would be managed.  
  
If approval was granted, the Executive Member for Environment advised that the Council 
planned to undertake work to ensure that those residents, who request larger bins or 
additional recycling bins, receive them in advance of the implementation date (1 April 2020). It 
was also added that: 
 

●  alley bins and large commercial bins would continue to be collected on a weekly 
basis; 

●  in areas that had been issued with black bin liners, those would continue to be 
collected on a weekly basis until bins could be distributed in those areas; 

●  systems and responses were being revised/developed to manage missed collections 
and prevent fly tipping; and 

●  additional staff had been trained in rodent control to respond to any issues on 
Council/public land. 

 
  
OPTIONS 
  
To change the residual waste collection frequency to Alternate Weekly (Fortnightly) 
with the current in use 140 litre wheelie bins - That was not being recommended as the 
waste public consultation questionnaire (October 2020) showed a large percentage of 
the participants expressed anxiety with that option. 
  
ORDERED 
  
That the proposal to move to alternate weekly (fortnightly) residual waste collections, 
from April 2021, be approved. 
  
REASONS 
  
The proposed changes planned to support the Council’s Green Strategy and therefore 
aid achieving a Carbon Neutral status by 2029. It would improve the Council’s current 
recycling rate toward the Government target of 50% by 2020. It would also embed the 
vision of the Council to be the lead authority on all environmental issues. Additionally, 
it planned to assist in delivering a saving of £322K and capital savings of £180k in line 
with the change Programme 3:1 (2021/22). 

 
 20/61 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN UPDATE AND BUDGET SAVINGS PROPOSALS  

Page 28



Executive 24 November 2020 

3  

2021/2022 
 
The Mayor and the Director of Finance submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. 
The purpose of the report was to provide an update of the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) for the period to 2023/24, reflecting and supporting delivery of the Strategic Plan. 
The report outlined the proposed additional budget efficiency savings and the proposed 
Council Tax increase for 2021/22, and noted that following approval by Council on 16 
December 2020 the proposals would be, where required, subject to public consultation. 
  
The Council had a legal obligation in relation to setting a balanced budget and was required to 
meet the challenging financial targets faced in the MTFP. The setting of the budget was part 
of the policy framework and therefore required Full Council approval. 
  
The report to the Executive on 29 September 2020 had detailed the anticipated changes to 
the Council’s financial position in the period to 2022/23 since the budget report to Council in 
February 2020, along with the main assumptions and risks contained within the updated 
MTFP. The report highlighted that there was a requirement for an estimated £3m of additional 
budget savings in 2021/22. 
  
The MTFP, along with the assumptions and risks included in it, had been further reviewed in 
the submitted report. The table at paragraph 9 of the submitted report summarised the 
updated position of the anticipated changes to the Council’s financial position in the period to 
2023/24, since the budget report to Council in February 2020. 
  
The Executive had decided to propose a number of potential additional budget efficiency 
savings, which would have minimal or no effect on front line service delivery levels, alongside 
an increase in the Council Tax to 3.99% in 2021/22. Those were detailed in the submitted 
report with the proposed increases in Council Tax shown in paragraphs 27 to 33 and the 
proposed additional budget efficiency savings being shown in paragraphs 50 to 54. Those 
proposals were brought forward for consideration by the Executive and then by Council on 16 
December 2020, after which public consultation on the budget and the proposed Council Tax 
increase of 3.99% (for 2021/22) would commence. 
  
Following consideration of the proposed additional budget efficiency savings it had been 
determined that all of the proposed additional budget efficiency savings were considered to 
have minimal or no effect on front line service delivery levels and that they required no, or no 
further, public consultation or impact assessment prior to consideration by Full Council as part 
of the 2021/22 revenue budget for implementation in 2021/22. All of the proposed additional 
budget efficiency savings were therefore shown in Appendix 1. The budget consultation would 
therefore be regarding the proposed Council Tax increase only. 
  
As noted in the report to Executive on 29 September 2020, there were a number of planned 
budget savings for 2021/22 that had been proposed as part of the budget report to Council in 
February 2020 and were already assumed in the MTFP. Those were shown in the table at 
paragraph 15 of the submitted report. It was noted that removal of any of those savings would 
have required further additional savings to be made to replace them. 
  
OPTIONS 
  
The Council had no option but to monitor its financial position, addressing any 
potential financial pressures and any budget savings required, to ensure the Council’s 
financial position was balanced. The updated Medium Term Financial Plan for 2020-24 
would provide the means to achieve that in a proactive and systematic manner, while 
continuing to reshape the Council to lead the delivery of the priorities for 
Middlesbrough. 
  
ORDERED 
 

1. That the updated Medium Term Financial Plan position for 2020-24 be noted. 
2. That the proposed additional budget efficiency savings for 2021/22 detailed in 

Appendix 1, which were considered to have minimal or no effect on front line 

Page 29



Executive 24 November 2020 

4  

service delivery levels, and the proposed Council Tax increase of 3.99% for 
2021/22, be endorsed. 

3. That the report be presented to Council on 16 December 2020, allowing 
consultation on the budget and the proposed Council Tax increase to 
commence, with any required changes arising from the discussion of the report 
at the Executive being delegated to the Executive Member for Finance and 
Governance, as advised by the Director of Finance. 

 
REASON 
  
To enable the Council to meet its statutory responsibility to set a balanced revenue 
budget and to ensure that a proper framework was in place for the medium term 
financial management of the Council, which would enable the Council to take a 
systematic, coherent and controlled approach to addressing ongoing financial 
challenges over the medium-term, while maximising its contribution to the Mayor’s 
priorities for Middlesbrough. 

 
 20/62 REFRESHING THE STRATEGIC PLAN FOR THE 2021-2024 PERIOD 

 
The Mayor and the Chief Executive submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. Prior 
to consideration by Full Council on 16 December 2020, the purpose of the report was to seek 
endorsement of proposed revisions to the Council’s strategic priorities. It was proposed that 
consultation on those priorities and the 2021/22 revenue budget would form part of the first 
'annual conversation' with local communities and the Council’s stakeholders and inform the 
refresh of the Strategic Plan for the 2021-24 period, which would be presented to the 
Executive on 16 February 2021 prior to consideration by Council on 5 March 2021, following 
planned approval of 2021/22 budgets on 24 February. 
  
It was proposed that the Council retained its three simple and interrelated strategic aims. 
Those were detailed at paragraph 14 of the submitted report and were both well-understood 
and remained responsive to the long-term issues facing Middlesbrough and to political 
direction. 
  
While the Council’s aims would remain unchanged, it was proposed to refine the Council’s 
strategic priorities to provide a greater focus for the remainder of the Mayor’s term. The 
proposed priorities were: 
 

●  children and young people; 
●  vulnerability; 
●  crime and anti-social behaviour; 
●  climate change; 
●  COVID-19 recovery; 
●  physical environment; 
●  town centre; 
●  culture; and 
●  quality of service. 

 
  
That would reduce the number of strategic priorities to nine in total, from 20 in the 2020-23 
Strategic Plan, and complete the process of the integrating the priorities of the Elected Mayor 
with those of the Council. Appendix 1 of the submitted report set out proposed priorities for 
2021-24 in detail, showing changes from the current plan. 
  
It was proposed that the Council consult with local communities and other stakeholders on 
those proposed revisions to strategic priorities. The consultation would take the form of the 
first 'annual conversation' with communities on direction of travel and future plans (including 
spending plans), an approach which would in future years be embedded within the Council’s 
emerging locality working approach. 
  
The 2020 annual conversation would run from 17 December 2020 to 31 January 2021. 
  

 

Page 30



Executive 24 November 2020 

5  

The annual conversation planned to inform the development to the refreshed Strategic Plan 
for the 2021-24 period, which would be presented to the Executive on 16 February 2021 prior 
to consideration by Council on 5 March. Building on the economy of the current format and 
design, the refreshed plan would be further streamlined, aiding communication to 
stakeholders. 
  
To improve focus upon and strengthen delivery of the Strategic Plan, a supporting workplan 
would be developed in the period to March 2021, bringing together all current and planned 
activity in support of the Council’s strategic priorities. That workplan would be presented to the 
Executive for approval on 16 March 2021, following the planned approval of the finalised 
Strategic Plan at Council on 5 March. 
  
The anticipated outline timetable for the refresh of the Strategic Plan was outlined at 
paragraph 24 of the submitted report. 
  
OPTIONS 
 
The only other realistic potential decision would have been to leave the Council’s 
strategic objectives unchanged on the assumption that they were sufficiently flexible to 
accommodate responses to COVID-19 and other issues affecting the Council during 
2020. However, that was not correct and neither would it represent an appropriate 
response to COVID-19, which would clearly impact local communities and the business 
of the Council for some years ahead. 
  
ORDERED 
  
That the proposed revisions to the Council’s strategic priorities for the 2021-24 period 
be endorsed. 
  
REASON 
  
To commence the refresh of the Strategic Plan for 2021-24, based on real local insight 
through the first 'annual conversation' with local communities. 

 
 20/63 REVISED APPROACH TO COVID-19 RECOVERY 

 
The Mayor and the Chief Executive submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. The 
purpose of the report was to provide an understanding of the Council’s response to the 
second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic; in particular the recent surge in local cases of 
COVID-19, subsequent imposed restrictions from national Government and the resulting 
impact on the approach to recovery. The report also advised of the requirement to revise the 
approach to COVID-19 recovery and related recovery plan/strategy, as approved on 16 June 
2020. 
  
Since approval of the Council’s COVID-19 Recovery Plan in June 2020, work had been 
undertaken to ensure plans remained fit-for-purpose and were able to flex in-line with the 
changing national and local position. Milestone plans were in place to monitor recovery 
activity, and those plans were reviewed by exception via Gold Command Recovery Group. 
  
As at October 2020, progress against the plan (by Strategic Plan aim and Recovery work 
stream) was detailed at paragraph 14 of the submitted report. 
  
As reported at Year-End 2019/20 and Quarter One 2020/21, COVID-19, both the response to 
it and the recovery from it, would have a significant impact on local people and communities, 
the local economy and would fundamentally change the way the Council did business in the 
future. 
  
Priorities had undoubtedly been impacted as a result of COVID-19; new plans had emerged, 
and others had been de-prioritised, or were no longer necessary. 
  
Significant surges in infection rates of COVID-19 and increased numbers of outbreaks 

 

Page 31



Executive 24 November 2020 

6  

(leading to further community transmission) had occurred across Middlesbrough, the Tees 
Valley and North East. The second wave implications and enforced restrictions in many areas 
of the country, including Middlesbrough and the wider Tees Valley had confirmed the need to 
reassess and review local response to outbreaks and longer term implications/requirements 
for recovery. 
  
In light of the fundamental and lasting impact of COVID-19 on local communities, Phase 2 
Recovery would consider longer-term assumptions and impact and would feed in to a revised 
Strategic Plan for the Council for 2021/22 onwards. A separate report submitted to the 
meeting had set out proposed revised priorities for future years and the proposed approach to 
consulting with communities on those priorities in advance of finalising the plan in March 
2021. 
  
The revised COVID-19 Recovery Plan metrics and measures, as set out at Appendix 1 of the 
submitted report, identified new priorities, timescales and measures of success to address the 
increased and new risks posed to the Council, as a result of the disruption caused by the 
resurgence of COVID-19. 
 
OPTIONS 
  
Not applicable; the Council had a legal duty to respond to an emergency incident. 
  
ORDERED 
 

1. That the impact of the recent surge in local cases of COVID-19, the nationally 
imposed restrictions and resulting impact on the approach to Recovery, 
approved by the Executive in June 2020, be noted. 

2. That the Council’s revised approach to COVID-19 Recovery be approved and the 
updated Recovery metrics and measures, at Appendix 1, be noted. 

3. That the delegation of approval for minor amendments to in-quarter timescales 
against Recovery metrics and measure timescales, via the Recovery Group, be 
agreed. That any significant variation to approach or deliverables be reported, 
for approval, via the quarterly Strategic Plan progress reports to Executive. 

 
REASON 
  
To enable the effective management of delivery and monitoring of progress, against the 
Council’s approach to COVID-19 Recovery and to support delivery of the Council’s 
strategic priorities. 
  
To advise that regular updates on progress towards COVID-19 Recovery would 
continue to be provided to the Overview and Scrutiny Board and also as part of the 
quarterly Strategic Plan updates to the Executive. 
  
It should be noted that the deadlines associated with the Recovery metrics and 
measures were dependent on the 'R number' and any associated restrictions enforced 
as a result. The R number was the average number of people that one infected person 
would go on to infect. When the R number was 1, one infected person would go on to 
infect one other person on average. If it was higher than 1 then the number of cases in 
a population would increase exponentially unless immunity and/or controls were in 
place. Conversely, if the number was lower than 1 then cases would eventually peter 
out. 

 
 20/64 STRATEGIC PLAN 2020-2023 – PROGRESS AT QUARTER TWO 2020/2021 

 
The Mayor and the Chief Executive submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. The 
purpose of the report was to advise of progress against the 2020-23 Strategic Plan and outline 
strategic risks at Quarter Two 2020/21. 
  
The Council’s Scheme of Delegation gave the Executive collective responsibility for corporate 
strategic performance, together with associated action. 

 

Page 32



Executive 24 November 2020 

7  

  
The submitted report provided the necessary information to enable the Executive to discharge 
its performance management responsibilities, setting out: 
 

●  a progress update against the 2020-23 Strategic Plan, summarising the actual and 
likely future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Council’s strategic objectives, 
where they were known at that stage; 

●  an update on the Council’s Strategic Risk Register; and 
●  actions that the Council had taken and planned to take to address the issues raised. 

 
The financial projections for Quarter Two were reported separately at the meeting. However, 
where performance had a significant impact on financial performance that was highlighted 
across both reports. 
  
Paragraphs 13 to 61 of the submitted report set out in brief the key headlines from Quarter 
Two relating to the Council’s current strategic priorities, including where available current 
estimates of the impact of COVID-19 and future plans. 
  
ORDERED 
  
That the progress made in implementing the Council’s Strategic Plan 2020-23 in 
Quarter Two 2020-21 and the ongoing and likely future impact of COVID-19 on strategic 
objectives, where they were known at that stage, be noted. 
 
That, in light of the above, the Council’s updated Strategic Risk Register at Appendix 1 
be noted. 
 
REASON 
  
To enable the effective management of performance and risk in line with the Council’s 
Local Code of Corporate Governance. 

 
 20/65 CHILDREN’S SERVICES IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME: OVERVIEW OF PROGRESS. 

JUNE – OCTOBER 2020.  
 
The Deputy Mayor and Lead Member for Children’s Social Care and the Executive Director for 
Children’s Services submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. The purpose of the 
report was to provide an overview of the strategic and operational actions undertaken 
between June and October 2020 against the Children’s Services Action Plan 2020/21. It also 
set out the context in which those actions had been carried out and that of delivering against 
Children’s Services Improvement Plan 2020/23. The overall aim was to improve outcomes for 
Middlesbrough’s vulnerable children, young people, families and carers. 
 
Children’s Services in Middlesbrough had been the subject of a full Ofsted inspection in 
November/December 2019. The report, published in January 2020, had evidenced that 
services were inadequate in all categories. As was usual in such circumstances, the 
Department of Education (DfE) appointed a Commissioner to examine Children’s Services as 
a whole and make recommendations to the minister, as to whether the Council required an 
Alternative Delivery Model. The commissioner’s recommendation 'that there are reasonable 
grounds to conclude that this is not an LA where alternative delivery models are needed at 
this stage' had been subsequently accepted by the minister. It had also been agreed that the 
commissioner would stay involved with Children’s Services on a 2/3 day per month basis and 
submit further reports to the minister in November 2020 and May 2021. 
 
The submitted report was an update covering the period since the receipt of the confirmatory 
letter from the minister in May until the end of October, which coincided with the period that 
the commissioner would cover in his November 2020 report. 
 
The submitted report was written against the three themes of the improvement plan. The 
report provided an update on the strategic and operational work undertaken in respect of: 
 

 

Page 33



Executive 24 November 2020 

8  

●  Quality and Performance - the Multi-Agency Children’s Hub, early help, Futures for 
Families, participation and Innovate (paragraphs 6 to 22), 

●  Leadership and Management (paragraphs 23 to 30) and; 
●  Governance and Partnerships (paragraphs 31 to 40). 

 
ORDERED 
 
That the overview of the strategic and operational work undertaken between June - 
October 2020, in line with the Children’s Services Improvement Action Plan 2020/21, be 
approved. 
 
REASON 
  
It was important that the Executive had oversight of: 
 

1. the improvement plan and the improvement work taking place to deliver 
improved outcomes for children; 

2. the external scrutiny of Children’s Services in particular the additional scrutiny 
given because Middlesbrough’s Children’s Services were in intervention; and  

3. the context in which the service operated. 
 

 
 20/66 INVEST TO SAVE PROPOSAL; REDUCING HIGH COST PLACEMENTS AND IMPROVING 

OUTCOMES FOR CHILDREN IN CARE 
 
The Deputy Mayor and Lead Member for Children’s Social Care and the Executive Director for 
Children’s Services submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. The purpose of the 
report was to outline the benefits of the proposal for improving outcomes for Middlesbrough’s 
looked after children. The proposal would result in improved care planning and more 
appropriate placements such as children returning to in-house provision in the Middlesbrough 
area, moving from residential care to foster care again in the Middlesbrough area and in some 
circumstances home to birth parents where it was safe to do so. 
  
There were significant cost benefits to the Local Authority as the current spend on external 
residential placements was a significant financial pressure. 
  
The current project had been in place since July 2020 and had evidenced impact to date. The 
proposal was to extend the project for a further period of 24 months from January 2021. 
  
To date, the progress of the project had resulted in direct savings in year, 2020-21, estimated 
to be £385k with a full year effect next financial year of £797k. That was likely to increase by a 
smaller amount in the current financial year and more for the full year effect for 2021-22 due to 
work still in progress. 
  
The cost of the service for phase 1 had been £273,000, so it was clear at the mid-point that it 
had already achieved its invest to save ambition. 
  
Throughout the first phase of the project there was an evidenced impact of improved care 
planning for children, improved outcomes and securing more appropriate placement options 
for the identified cohort of children. 
  
A further cohort of 27 children and young people had been identified for a potential phase 2 of 
the project. Should the project continue, in depth assessments would be undertaken to identify 
the most appropriate care planning options and next steps. 
  
It was important to note that all of the children in that cohort may not return home as a first 
step and therefore realise full cost avoidance. Following full assessment at the start of phase 
2, some children may go to fostering placements or to in house residential placements so 
there were still associated costs but at a significant reduction to external residential 
placements. 
  

 

Page 34



Executive 24 November 2020 

9  

If the project impacted on a further 10 external residential placements, over the next 6 months, 
the cost avoidance based on an average weekly cost would be an estimated £1.8m for the full 
year. That assumed that the 10 young people in phase 2 would have moved placement by 1 
April 2021, allowing for a full year effect. 
  
Indicative costs for continuing the project for 12 months would be approximately £560,000. 
  
OPTIONS 
  
The other potential option would be an attempt to manage improvement with existing 
resources. 
  
ORDERED 
  
That the progress made with the current Innovate Project, to improve care planning for 
children looked after, improve outcomes and also reduce high cost spend, be noted. 
  
That the proposal to extend the current contract for a period of 24 months be noted. 
That would be reviewed on a 3 monthly basis to monitor effectiveness and agree if 
continuation was required. 
  
REASON 
  
The decision was being recommended in order to improve care planning for children 
looked after, improve outcomes and potentially reduce high cost spend. 

 
 20/67 RE-PROCUREMENT OF TEES INTEGRATED SEXUAL HEALTH SERVICE 

 
The Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health and the Director of Public 
Health submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. The purpose of the report was to 
seek approval for Middlesbrough to be part of a re-procurement of a Tees integrated sexual 
health service with a view to commence the new service on 1 August 2021 for a period of 
three years. 
  
There was a statutory duty incumbent on local authorities, Clinical Commissioning Groups and 
NHS England and NHS Improvement to commission or provide sexual and reproductive 
health services. 
  
In August 2016, sexual health services were re-commissioned to deliver integrated services 
across Teesside for 5 years with an option to extend for 2 x 24 month periods. Virgin Care 
Services Ltd. was the successful bidder. The incumbent provider had rejected the offer of a 12 
month extension resulting in the collaborative commissioners moving to procure a new 
service. 
  
In Tees, open access sexual health services were commissioned by six different 
commissioning bodies (Hartlepool Borough Council, Middlesbrough Borough Council, Redcar 
and Cleveland Borough Council, Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council, NHS Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Group (formerly South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group and 
Hartlepool and Stockton Clinical Commissioning Group) and NHS England. Services were 
seamless to patients. 
  
Sexual Health Teesside (SHT) delivered levels 1, 2, 3 and 4 sexual health services ranging 
from condom distribution (level 1), provision of contraception (level 2), screening and 
treatment of Sexually Transmitted Infections (level 3) to vasectomy services (level 4). Services 
were delivered from a range of hub and spoke clinics, outreach facilities and subcontractors 
included GPs, Pharmacies, Brook, Terence Higgins Trust (THT), Marie Stopes International 
and Acculabs. 
  
ORDERED 
  
That Middlesbrough be part of a re-procurement of a Tees integrated sexual health 

 

Page 35



Executive 24 November 2020 

10  

service with a view to commence the new service on 1 August 2021, for a period of 
three years. 
  
REASON 
  
Recent changes in public health outcome performance and COVID-19 had driven the 
need to change the service model. In order to achieve that the Tees Sexual Health 
Needs Assessment had been refreshed alongside the collation of views sought from 
stakeholders. A service performance review and a recent piece of research to 
understand market appetite had developed a revised service specification. 
  
A stakeholder e-consultation had been undertaken in July 2020 and feedback had 
influenced the content of the final service specification. Ongoing consultation was 
taking place with service users as part of the contract monitoring process and the 
current provider had been consulted throughout the process. 

 
 20/68 ANNUAL UPDATE: SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND OR DISABILITIES 0-25 

 
The Executive Member for Communities and Education and the Director of Education, 
Prevention and Partnerships submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. The 
purpose of the report was to provide an update on Special Educational Needs and/or 
Disabilities 0-25 in Middlesbrough, since the local area revisit in July 2019. 
  
In March 2017, Middlesbrough Local Area had been inspected by Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission as part of a new SEND inspection process, for the quality of Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities provision for children and young people. The inspection included 
scrutiny of the contribution of Education, Social Care and Health in ensuring that children and 
young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities made good progress and had 
their needs met in a timely manner. The outcome of the inspection in 2017 resulted in a 
Written Statement of Action to address significant concerns. 
  
In July 2019, the same Ofsted and CQC inspection team revisited the local area to inspect the 
sustained progress since March 2017 and to identify if sufficient progress had been made on 
each of the four areas for development. The Lead HMI Inspector explained that the inspection 
team observed sufficient progress in each of the four areas and that Middlesbrough (LA and 
Health) no longer needed formal monitoring. 
  
An outline of the progress made, since the 2017 Written Statement of Action, was included at 
paragraph 9 of the submitted report. 
  
ORDERED 
  
That the report, providing an update on progress since the 2017 Written Statement of 
Action and providing oversight of the Local Authority’s statutory duties in relation to 
SEND, be noted. 
 

 

 
 20/69 PLACE PLANNING STRATEGY UPDATE AND ACTION PLAN 

 
The Executive Member for Communities and Education and the Director of Education, 
Prevention and Partnerships submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. The 
purpose of the report was to provide an update on progress made against the Place Planning 
Strategy 2020-25 and provide a brief update on recent changes to demographic trends which 
impacted on demand for school places. 
  
On 21 January 2020, the Executive approved the school Place Planning Strategy. The 
strategy set out the Council’s approach to ensuring the efficient and effective supply of school 
places over the next five years. 
  
The Strategy identified 16 priorities, which required addressing to ensure that all pupils could 
have timely access to an age-appropriate school place suitable to their learning needs. 

 

Page 36



Executive 24 November 2020 

11  

  
A high-level action plan flowing from those priorities, setting out broad timescales, anticipated 
costs and funding sources was included at Appendix A of the submitted report. Short-term 
actions were more developed, while actions towards to end of the planning period allowed 
more flexibility to develop as trends were confirmed. 
  
The plan also provided an update on progress since the strategy had been approved. 
  
Significant developments included: 
 

●  the provision of 151 additional primary school places in the centre of town at two 
primary schools; 

●  Outwood Academy Riverside, a new secondary Free school, opened in September 
and was offering 150 Year 7 places in its first year of operation rising to 210 by year 
four - total capacity 1,050; 

●  eight additional places for pupils with Severe Learning Difficulties made available at 
Priory Woods; and 

●  a new base for pupils with Autistic Spectrum Disorder opened at Acklam Grange 
School and admitting its first pupils. 

 
In order to keep the action plan current it had been reviewed to take into consideration 
changes to the demographic trends underpinning projections of future school roll numbers. In 
July 2020, the primary and secondary school roll projections were updated to take into 
account the newest data from school admissions, birth rates and migration trends. Key 
changes had been identified and were detailed at paragraph 7 of the submitted report. 
  
OPTIONS 
  
No other options had been considered. The place planning strategy set the priorities to 
ensure that the Council fulfilled its statutory obligation to provide sufficient school 
places. The action plan set out the steps to be taken to address those priorities. 
  
ORDERED 
  
That the contents of the report, including the update on pupil demand and the 
appended action plan, be noted. 
  
REASON 
  
Middlesbrough Council had a statutory obligation to ensure that there were sufficient 
school places to meet demand. The Place Planning Strategy action plan would ensure 
that the Council complied with that duty. 
  
The plan would contribute to the social regeneration of Middlesbrough: providing more 
local school places, ensuring that young people could get the right education, learning 
experiences and qualifications they needed to achieve their potential. 

 
 20/70 MIDDLESBROUGH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 

 
The Executive Member for Regeneration and the Director of Regeneration and Culture 
submitted a report for the Executive’s consideration. The purpose of the report was to seek 
approval for: 
 

1. the development of a new Town Centre Strategy; and, 
2. the principle of strategic alignment of external funding opportunities to aid the delivery 

of the Town Centre Strategy. 
 
It was more critical than ever that bold, decisive and meaningful action was taken to save the 
town centre, bringing it back into the heart of the community and completely redefining its 
function and uses, for the future. 
  

 

Page 37



Executive 24 November 2020 

12  

Retail would always form a component of the town centre experience, but there was a need to 
draw more complementary uses and amenities into the town centre, to make it a thriving hub 
of activity; creating a new urban community. 
  
To achieve that, Middlesbrough’s approach would be to build a new economy based on 
multiple, diverse uses that would drive business, employment, living and leisure into central 
Middlesbrough. The policy planned to deliver mutually-sustaining zones and clusters of 
activity that would create critical mass and provide a new purpose to Middlesbrough’s 
economy. That would include: 
 

●  Living: building residential communities in central Middlesbrough; 
●  Skills and Learning: integrating Middlesbrough’s educational services and institutions; 
●  Working: bringing employment and commercial uses to the centre; 
●  Health and Wellbeing: providing the facilities and amenities to improve quality of life; 
●  Civic: bringing together public services in central areas; 
●  Culture and Leisure: providing entertainment and spaces for people to enjoy; and 
●  Retail: maintaining a strong retail component in the high street. 

 
The diversification of the town centre would be underpinned by the cross cutting objectives of: 
 

●  Transport - delivering excellent transport and connectivity; 
●  Digital - digitising our town centre and building The Digital City; 
●  Environment - providing green spaces and public places that promote activity and 

wellbeing; and 
●  Welcoming to all - families, children, people with dementia etc. should feel safe and 

welcome. 
 
The new Town Centre Strategy had broader ambitions and provided a framework for delivery 
that planned to give businesses and investors certainty. The approach capitalised on a footfall 
base of those services that were less sensitive to market shocks (public sector) and build a 
healthier mix of uses that fed into one another. 
  
By targeting investment to central areas, the aim was not to diminish the role and significance 
of district centres. Indeed, the approach planned to provide economic growth opportunities for 
all areas as employment, business, commercial, residential and talent was increasingly drawn 
into the wider Middlesbrough ecosystem. 
  
OPTIONS 
  
In transforming the economic potential of central Middlesbrough, the following options 
had been considered: 
 

●  Do nothing - By not acting, Middlesbrough would have overseen an inevitable 
erosion of the retail sector in central Middlesbrough. Through a policy of 
managed decline, the town centre would slowly hollow out, losing employment 
and investment opportunities. 

●  Deliver a Town Centre Strategy that focussed on single sector uses - Covid-19 
had exacerbated the need for diversification and the range of services that were 
required to deliver sustainable change. Whilst adapting to single sector such as 
housing or leisure would have had some impact in reversing decline, it would 
not have had the same scale, or sustainability of impact, which would have 
come from a multifunctional approach. 

 
ORDERED 
 

1. That the development of a new Town Centre Strategy for Middlesbrough, which 
acknowledged the impacts of Covid-19 and provided a new framework for the 
comprehensive transformation of the function and uses of the town centre, be 
approved; and 

2. That the principle of the strategic alignment of any external funding 
opportunities that may be forthcoming (Towns Fund and Future High Street 

Page 38



Executive 24 November 2020 

13  

Fund), to aid the delivery of the objectives of a revised Town Centre Strategy, be 
approved. 

 
REASONS 
  
The trend of decline in traditional town centre models was irreversible and 
accelerating. A programme to transform central Middlesbrough into a multifunctional 
economic hub provided the greatest propensity for driving economic growth and 
recovery; delivering greater opportunities for the residents of Middlesbrough. 
  
A single, cohesive framework, provided certainty to invest and articulated an ambition 
that was deliverable and where each component was mutually-supportive. It laid the 
foundations for new communities and central amenities that would inspire 
Middlesbrough’s population and significantly improve the perceptions of the town. 
  
The approach accorded with the Mayoral set out in the Strategic Plan 2020-23, which 
included: 
 

1. tackling crime and anti-social behaviour head on; 
2. ensuring Middlesbrough was an absolute leader on environmental issues; 
3. transforming Middlesbrough’s town centre with new buildings that inspire awe; 
4. building more town centre homes and protecting green spaces; 
5. making Middlesbrough look and feel amazing; 
6. winning investment and creating jobs; and 
7. creating positive perceptions of the town on a national basis. 

 
 

 20/71 REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET – PROJECTED OUTTURN POSITION AS AT 
QUARTER TWO 2020/2021 
 
The Executive Member of Finance and Governance and the Director of Finance submitted a 
report for the Executive’s consideration. The purpose of the report was to provide information 
on the Council’s financial position at Quarter Two 2020/21, including the projected effect of 
Covid-19 on the Council’s finances. 
  
As reported in the 2020/21 Quarter One Projected Outturn reports to Executive on 18 August 
2020 and to Council on 2 September 2020 and the Medium Term Financial Plan Update to 
Executive on 29 September 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic was having a significant impact on 
the Council’s financial position. Covid-19 financial pressures were being monitored separately 
from the normal non-Covid-19 financial position, and those were reported in paragraphs 41 to 
67 of the submitted report. 
  
The 2020/21 Revenue budget for the Council was £116,397,000. A revised senior 
management structure within the Council was implemented during Quarter One and the 
financial position was reported against that new structure. The Council’s outturn position for 
2020/21 for non-Covid-19 elements was projected to be an underspend of £9,000 (-0.01%). 
The split by Directorate was shown in the table at paragraph 7 of the submitted report. 
  
That when added to the estimated Covid-19 pressures of £4.414m, detailed in paragraphs 41 
to 67, resulted in a total projected outturn pressure at year end 2020/21 of £4.405m. That was 
a small reduction to the total projected outturn pressure of £4.435m reported at Quarter One. 
The overspend in 2020/21 would be covered by the General Fund Reserve as approved by 
Council on 2 September 2020. 
  
The detail of the variances was set out in paragraphs 10 to 39 of the submitted report. At 
Quarter Two, 33 areas were projected to be spent +/- £150,000 of the agreed budget. 
  
As previously reported to the Executive, a number of controls had been implemented in 
2019/20 to minimise overspending across the Council in-year and those had remained in 
place for 2020/21. 
  

 

Page 39



Executive 24 November 2020 

14  

As part of the MTFP report to Executive on 2 September 2020, the Executive approved a 
revised capital budget for 2020/21 of £55,019,000. Following a further review and the 
inclusion of new additional schemes and increases to existing schemes (as detailed in 
paragraphs 77 to 79 of the submitted report) it was currently predicted at Quarter Two that the 
Council would spend £50,363,000 at year-end. The underspend was mainly due to delays on 
major schemes resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic. 
  
The revised Investment Strategy to 2022/23 was included at Appendix 2 of the submitted 
report for approval. 
  
ORDERED 
 

1. That the 2020/21 revenue budget Quarter Two total projected outturn of 
£4.405m, representing a £9,000 (-0.01%) underspend on non-Covid-19 elements, 
and the estimated financial effect of Covid-19 in 2020/21 of £4.414m, and the 
proposed actions to address this, be noted. 

2. That the proposed use of the General Fund Reserve, as approved by Council on 
2 September 2020, to fund the total projected overspend in 2020/21, be noted. 

3. That the proposed revenue budget virements, over £150,000 (Appendix 1) be 
approved. 

4. That the 2020/21 capital budget Quarter Two predicted outturn of £50.363m, 
against a budget of £55.019m, driven in the main by delays resulting from 
Covid-19 be noted and the proposed revised Investment Strategy to 2022/23 at 
Appendix 2 be approved. 

 
REASON 
  
To enable the effective management of finances, in line with the Council’s Local Code 
of Corporate Governance, the Scheme of Delegation and agreed corporate financial 
regulations. 

 
 20/72 NUNTHORPE GRANGE FARM: DISPOSAL – CHURCH LANE [PART A] 

 
The Executive Member for Finance and Governance, the Executive Member for 
Regeneration, the Director of Finance and the Director of Regeneration and Culture submitted 
a report for the Executive’s consideration. The purpose of the report was to provide 
information on the proposal to dispose of the Council’s freehold interest in land at Nunthorpe 
Grange Farm. 
  
The subject parcel of land currently formed part of a much larger, now defunct, agricultural 
holding situated at Nunthorpe Grange Farm next to the former farm house, yard and buildings 
- with Guisborough Road (A1043) located immediately to the northern boundary of the subject 
parcel of land, and Church Lane to the south. 
  
Shown edged on the plan attached as Appendix A of the submitted report, the subject parcel 
of land measured @ 5.954 Acres (2.410 Hectares). Rectangular in shape, and situated 
outside of the Local Plan Framework development boundary, the site comprised an open and 
vacant area of paddock grazing land, which sloped gently and had both boundary hedgerow 
and tree cover. 
  
It was proposed that access to the subject parcel of land would be taken via a new highways 
roundabout junction to be constructed on Guisborough Road (A1043). The design of the new 
arrangement (referenced in Appendix B of the submitted report) planned to allow the Council 
to bring forward the subject site, serve any future requirement to access the land situated 
north of Guisborough Road (A1043) and potentially facilitate delivery of a park and ride 
scheme proposal on land to the east of the subject site. 
  
An Asset Disposal Business Case confirming the status of the subject land, as surplus to 
operational Council requirements, was attached as Appendix D to Part B of the report. 
  
OPTIONS 

 

Page 40



Executive 24 November 2020 

15  

  
Re-use for operational purposes - No Council operational service requirement had been 
identified. 
 
Other uses - Although the site was capable of being used for other purposes, it was 
situated outside of the Local Plan Framework development boundary and certain types 
of development would have been restricted in planning terms. The future use of the site 
for the purposes of religious worship, as being proposed by the Buyer, was preferred. 
 
Do nothing - The property would have remained in its present state. Whilst the subject 
land would have been retained for potential Council use in the future, the liability and 
responsibility for maintaining and holding the property would have remained with the 
Council in the interim. 
  
ORDERED 
 

1. That the information contained in Part A of the report be noted; and 
2. That the decision be taken once all the financial or exempt information 

contained in Part B of the report had been considered. 
 
REASONS 
  
In order to meet the Council’s requirements to generate capital receipts, increase 
annually recurring revenue streams and to bring the subject parcel of land into a far 
more beneficial use in the future. 
  
The disposal of the subject parcel of land as proposed planned to generate a 
substantial capital receipt that the Council had allocated to fund/part-fund planned 
highways junction works on the adjacent Guisborough Road (A1043) as per Appendix 
B. 
  
The disposal as proposed supported delivery of the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Plan. 

 
 20/73 ANY OTHER URGENT ITEMS WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR, MAY BE 

CONSIDERED. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Board Call-In Referral of Council - Future Office 
Accommodation Update, made by Executive on 27 October 2020. 
  
The Mayor had granted approval for an additional report to be considered at the meeting. 
  
The purpose of the report was to provide recommendations following the OSB Call-In of 20 
November 2020 and its decision to refer the decision of 27 October 2020 (Council - Future 
Office Accommodation Update) back to the Executive. 
  
The OSB had stated that the decision taken on the 27 October 2020 by Executive needed to 
be reconsidered due to the reasons cited during the Call-In meeting of 20 November 2020. 
  
The Board was of the view that the original report to Executive had not contained the sufficient 
level of detail required to make an informed decision, and therefore as part of its referral, OSB 
proposed the following recommendations to assist the Executive: 
 

1. That the report be revised to include further clarity, for example, about where the 
funds citied would be spent; and 

2. That additional contextual information be provided, as this would be beneficial to 
explain the background of the original proposal and subsequent decision. 

 
The Mayor explained the reasons for the decision and advised that all of the relevant 
information had been shared at the Call-in meeting. Therefore, it was commented that nothing 
would have been gained from revisiting the decision and delaying its implementation. 

 

Page 41



Executive 24 November 2020 

16  

  
ORDERED 
 

1. That the recommendations proposed by the Overview and Scrutiny Board be 
noted, but not agreed.  

2. That the recommendations agreed at the Executive meeting, held on 27 October 
2020, be implemented with immediate effect.   

 
REASONS 
  
Following a Call-In meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Board on 20 November 2020, it 
had been decided that the Executive decision (Council - Future Office Accommodation 
Update) should be referred back to the Executive for further consideration.  
  
As per the Council’s Scrutiny Call-In protocol, the Executive was required to have 
regard of any recommendations made as part of a Call-In meeting.  

 
 20/74 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
The resolution to exclude the press and the public was agreed. 

 

 
 20/75 EXEMPT – NUNTHORPE GRANGE FARM: DISPOSAL – CHURCH LANE [PART B] 

 
The Executive Member for Finance and Governance, the Executive Member for 
Regeneration, the Director of Finance and the Director of Regeneration and Culture submitted 
a report for the Executive’s consideration. 
  
ORDERED 
 

1. That the recommendations of the report be approved. 
2. That a proportion of the capital receipt (i.e. £43,500) generated by the disposal 

of the land be allocated to Nunthorpe and Marton East wards, for community 
use. 

3. That a land-related covenant be applied, imposing restrictions on future use of 
the land. 

4. That, in respect of the disposal of Council assets, a report be submitted to a 
future meeting of the Executive to ensure that when a negotiated sum exceeded 
the asset value, a proportion of the capital receipt generated would be allocated 
to the relevant ward/s, for community use. 

 
REASONS 
  
The decision was supported by the following reason: 
  
For reasons outlined in the report. 

 

 
 
 
The decision(s) will come into force after five working days following the day the decision(s) was 
published unless the decision becomes subject to the call in procedures. The report entitled 
'Re-procurement of Tees Integrated Sexual Health Service' was added as an urgent item and, 
following agreement from the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board, will be exempt from call in 
procedures.   

Page 42



1 
 

 
Procedure for Call-in Requests at OSB 

  
1. Once a valid call-in request has been received, a meeting of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board must be held to consider the matter.  
 

2. The procedure shall be as follows:  
 

Agenda: 
The agenda for the meeting shall include a report, or a set of reports, which will 
include the following:  

 
(a) The procedure to be followed, including an explanation of the courses 

of action open to the committee.  

(b) Details of the call-in request and any additional written material the 
members making the call-in wish to submit for consideration.  

(c) Details of the decision, which shall include:  
 

 A copy of the original report or other papers considered by the 
Executive (or other decision maker) when the decision was 
made.  

 A copy of the minutes of the meeting where the decision was 
made.  

 
(d) A copy of any written information provided by the decision maker, in 

response to the points raised in the call-in request.  
 
3. Procedure to be followed in the meeting:  

 
3.1. Once the Chair has opened the meeting, a note will be taken of the members 

present at the meeting. Any member who arrives after the call-in signatories 
have started their presentation may not vote on the call-in, although they may 
take part in the discussion. If there is a very low turnout, or if the Chair has 
been made aware that other members are on their way but have been 
delayed, they may, at their discretion, delay the start of the meeting to allow 
time for members to arrive.  
 

3.2. It should be noted that no party whip should be applied to call-in meetings 
and any member who has been subject to a party whip in respect of the 
matters being considered must declare it in accordance with Paragraph 15 
of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules.  

3.3. The Chair will outline the Procedure to be followed. 

N.B. As two call-in forms have been received in respect of the 
decision regarding Residual Waste Collections, each case 
will be heard in-turn.  Following presentation of both 
submissions, the Board will take one vote on the appropriate 
course of action, outlining the reasons for the decision. 

Page 43



2 
 

3.4. Call-in Form One (Labour Group): The Proposer – the first named member 
who called-in the decision will then be asked to explain why the decision has 
been called-in and what should be reviewed. The members making the call-
in shall be allowed up to 15 minutes in total to present their case. It shall be 
up to them to determine how they wish to use their time, they may ask one 
speaker to speak or share the time among several speakers/witnesses as 
they see fit. (Maximum 15 minutes). 
 

3.5. Call-in Form Two (MICA Group): The Proposer – the first named member 
who called-in the decision will then be asked to explain why the decision has 
been called-in and what should be reviewed. The members making the call-
in shall be allowed up to 15 minutes in total to present their case. It shall be 
up to them to determine how they wish to use their time, they may ask one 
speaker to speak or share the time among several speakers/witnesses as 
they see fit. (Maximum 15 minutes). 

 
3.6. The Executive Member and the service department will have the opportunity 

to ask factual questions of each Lead Member who called in the decision(s) 
and the witnesses (Maximum 5 minutes each). 
 

3.7. The relevant Executive Member will explain the background to the 
decision(s). The Executive Member must speak first (unless the decision that 
has been called in was made by an officer under delegation), The Executive 
Member may then call on officers to deal with matters of detail. (Maximum 
15 minutes).  
 

3.8. The two Proposers who called in the decision(s) will have the opportunity to 
ask factual questions (Maximum 5 minutes each). 
 

3.9. Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board (OSB) will have the 
opportunity to question all parties. Requests to speak should be made 
through the Chair. It shall be up to the Chair to decide whether to allow 
people to speak and how many speakers will be allowed.  
 

3.10. Following questioning, all parties (i.e. two Lead Members and the Executive 
Member/service area) may make closing submissions (5 minutes each), 
commencing with the Executive Member, then the Lead Members submitting 
the call in.  After closing submissions, no further representations will be 
heard. 
 

3.11. The Chair should then clearly indicate that the floor is open for debate and 
invite members to discuss and examine the main issues. Members may ask 
further questions of the members making the call-in or the decision makers, 
or any other people present at the meeting, during the debate. The members 
making the call-in and the decision maker will not normally speak during the 
debate, except to answer questions.  
 

3.12. When the Chair considers that the matter has been debated for a reasonable 
length of time, the Chair will invite the committee members to vote on 
whether the decision should be referred back and what the reasons for this 
are. The committee may also agree any comments or recommendations it 
would like the decision maker (or Council) to consider.  

Page 44



3 
 

3.13. Following the completion of discussions on the Call-in request, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Board has a number of courses of action available: 

 
i. To refer the decision back to the Executive/Executive Sub-

Committee/Executive Member/Officer for reconsideration. In that case, 
OSB should set out in writing the nature of its concerns about the 
decisions. 

 
ii. To determine that it is satisfied with the decision making process that 

was followed and the decision that was taken by the 
Executive/Executive Sub-Committee/Executive Member/Officer. In that 
event, no further action would be necessary and the Executive decision 
could be implemented immediately 
 

iii. Request that the decision be deferred (adjourned) until the Overview 
and Scrutiny Board has received and considered any additional 
information/evidence required to make a decision with regard to the 
Call-In from other witnesses not present at the committee. (The 
Committee need to clearly identify the relevant issues that need to be 
given further consideration and whether there are any specific time 
constraints or other implications affecting the proposed implementation 
of the decision.) 

 
iv. Take no action in relation to the Called-In decision but consider whether 

issues arising from the Call-In need to be added to the Work 
Programme of any existing or new Overview and Scrutiny Standing 
Panel/OSB. (The Committee need to clearly identify the issues to be 
added to the Work Programme.) 

 
v. If, but only if (having taking the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or 

the Chief Finance Officer), the Committee determines that the decision 
is wholly or partly outside the Budget and Policy Framework refer the 
matter, with any recommendations, to the Council after following the 
procedure in Rule 8 of the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. Only in this case is there a continuing bar on implementing the 
decision. 

 
3.14. The Chair will confirm the OSB’s decision.       

ii) If members vote not to refer the decision back at this stage, the call-in 
is ended. The matter will not be referred back and the original decision 
may be implemented.  

 
iii) Even though members have decided not to refer the decision back for 

reconsideration they may still decide to refer issues of concern arising 
from the call-in to the Executive, officers, a committee, or Council, or 
any other body they consider appropriate, for consideration.  

 
iv) If members vote in favour of referring the matter for reconsideration, the 

decision will normally be referred directly back to the decision maker.  
 
v) A written report, detailing OSB’s decision and the reasons for it, will be 

prepared and made available to all Council Members by e mail.  

Page 45



4 
 

 
vi) Where OSB refers a decision back to the decision maker, it shall be 

reconsidered by the decision maker within 10 working days. 

 

Page 46


	Agenda
	3 Call-in - Residual Waste Collections
	Appendix 1a - Report - Residual Waste Collections
	Appendix 1b - Impact Assessment - Residual Waste Collections
	Appendix 2 - Minutes - Executive - 24 November 2020
	Appendix 3 - Procedure for the Meeting


